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In October of 1939 Dr. Karl Brandt began to experiment with Sonderbehandlungen (“special treatments”) to eliminate lebensunwertes Leben (“life unworthy of life.”)  The Nazi euthanasia, or “mercy killing” program, was given the name Aktion T-4 (Operation T-4), named after the address of a confiscated Jewish Villa in Berlin at Tiergartenstraße 4 (Zoo Street 4), where Brandt met with SS doctors to begin the program.  Hitler was fond of recalling a story about a letter he had received in 1938 from a man with a retarded child.  According to Hitler, the father wanted the Führer to take measures to “put the child out of its misery.”  Hitler supposedly wrote back and informed the family that he could not personally order the mercy killing of the child, but that he would be happy to give the child’s name to his personal physician, Dr. Brandt.
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Brandt ordered SS doctors to establish seven euthanasia centers in Germany and Austria: (1) Brandenburg, (2) Hartheim, (3)Sonnenstein, (4) Grafeneck, (5) Bernburg, (6) Hadamar and (7) Eglfing-Haar.  German doctors throughout the Reich were authorized and encouraged to send the names of incurable patients to the T-4 administrative center in Berlin, where Viktor Brack and his assistant, Berner Blankenberg, would assign the sick and crippled to one of the killing centers for “special treatment.”

T-4 Euthanasia Centers
The SS doctors and nurses at the seven killing centers experimented with different methods of murder.  Starvation and lethal injections were first used.  At Eglfing-Haar near Munich, SS Doctor Pfannmüller made a specialty of starving to death sick children.  One visitor to the euthanasia center reported seeing 15 to 25 children aged one through five, chained to their beds.  Pfannmüller said to the visitor, “Those creatures represent to me, as a Nazi, only a burden to the Reich.  We do not kill by poison injection because foreign newspapers and the Swiss Red Cross would get new propaganda to use against us.  Our method is much simpler and more natural.”  Pfannmüller than unchained one of the starving babies from his bed and holding the child up in the air announced, “This one will last another two or three days.”  The SS doctor than further explained to his visitor that the technique was not to stop feeding the children suddenly, but to gradually reduce the food rations over the course of two to three weeks, resulting in a “slow and natural death.”
The T-4 program identified and targeted different categories of “useless eaters” in the Reich: mental patients, deformed children, the criminally insane, patients in irreversible comas and the handicapped.  A special category was reserved for, “undesirable citizens of the Reich.” Starvation was decided to be too slow.  At Brandenburg near Berlin, experiments were conducted to find a killing method that would not alarm the victims and still permit officials to hide the truth from the victim’s families, as to the true cause of death.  
Brandt reported to Hitler that successful experiments with poison gas had been conducted on four mentally retarded men.  Phillip Bouhler, head of Hitler’s chancellery, suggested the gas chambers be disguised as tiled shower rooms, complete with running water and flush toilets.  Two cylinders containing the deadly gas carbon monoxide were hidden out of view behind the gas chambers.  Once the patients were inside, a nozzle was turned and the carbon monoxide was pumped inside the killing room.  Depending on how many patients were inside the chamber and depending on weather conditions, death occurred between twenty to thirty minutes.
Five of the killing centers were equipped with gas chambers and crematoria to dispose of and to burn the bodies.  Typically the patients were told to undress and given paper smocks.  They were then ushered into the gas chambers in groups of 15 to 20, and told to get undressed for the shower.  The SS doctor on duty would then gas them.  A conveyer belt removed the bodies, transporting the dead to the crematoria.  The Charitable Foundation for Institutional Care provided transportation to the killing centers in busses, and later notified the families about the death of their loved one.  Each family received an official death certificate.  Usually the cause of death was listed as heart failure or pneumonia and the families were informed that the body had been cremated for health reasons. 
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Picture taken secretly of cremations conducted at the Hadamar Euthanasia Center, 1941
Though the Nazi government tried to keep the T-4 killings secret, word soon spread throughout the Reich as to what was happening.  People watched the smoke rising from the killing centers.  Although the residents of the town of Hadamar were refused entry into the “euthanasia center”, the chimney’s smoke and the sickly-sweet, bacon-like smell of the burning bodies could not be kept secret.  School children living close to Hadamar called the bus bringing patients to the center “the murder box.” Students kidded their friends by taunting to each other, “You’ll be sent to the baking oven.”  German girls in the HJ (Hitler Youth) vowed that, “They would never bring children in the world so they could be put into the bottling machine.”  Throughout Germany stories were told about old people pleading with their families, not to send them to nursing homes for, “after the feeble-minded were killed off, the next ‘useless eaters’ whose turn would come would be the elderly.”  The Nazi government produced an entire feature-length film in 1939 showing the benefits of the T-4 program, trying to convince the citizens of the Reich about the necessity of the mercy killings.  The film told the story of a devoted and loving husband who kills his terminally ill wife at her request in order to end her painful suffering.  The film was not well received in Germany’s theaters.  Many viewers got up and left when the film was being shown, while others interrupted the film with whistles and boos.

Beginning in 1940, massive public demonstrations swept through Germany, protesting the T-4 killings.  Families were outraged that their loved ones were being killed.  “The unnecessary killing of German citizens,” was often the topic of church sermons on Sundays.  Catholic and Lutheran churches throughout the Reich held “T-4 lecture protests.”  The T-4 administrative center in Berlin was flooded with letters from angry families, demanding to know the truth about their lost children or parents.  In 1941 Bishop Clemens August von Galen spoke out every Sunday in church against the T-4 programs.  Galen had been an earlier supporter of the Nazis and was later arrested by the Gestapo and sent to (KZ) Sachsenhausen outside of Berlin.  By 1941 there was a huge public movement in the Reich to, “halt the needless killings of German citizens.” As public opposition mounted, Hitler ordered Brandt to “stall” the program and T-4 was “officially” ended in August of 1941, though patients were killed in secret until 1945.  The entire T-4 staff was transferred to Aktion Reinhard (Operation Reinhard) in Poland in late 1941.  Aktion Reinhard opened up three death camps: Belzec, Sobibor and Treblinka.  The original SS T-4 doctors, nurses and administrators served in the death camps, offering their expertise in the techniques of mass extermination.  The widespread use of gas chambers in the T-4 killing centers served as the model for mass destruction in the Reinhard death camps.

Between 1939 and 1942, 90,000-100,000 patients were gassed in the killing centers, of which only 5000, or roughly 5%, were Jews.   40% of Germany’s mentally ill were killed during the T-4 liquidations of the “useless eaters.”  Following up on Hitler’s promise to criminalize homosexuality, the Nazi government ordered over 400,000 homosexuals castrated and sterilized to stop “the genetic polluters of pure German blood.” 
Action T-4 anticipated the Holocaust.  The gas chambers of the death camps evolved out of the T-4 technology for mass destruction.  Many of the death camp technical and administrative personnel had been part of the SS T-4 killing centers in Germany 1939-1941, and the ideology calling for the mass destruction of the inferior was born in the T-4 administrative center in Berlin at Tiergartenstraße 4.  However, what is unique about the T-4 program is that the majority of the victims were German citizens, while very few of the victims were German Jews.  This leads us to the disturbing question as to why German citizens would protest the T-4 killings, in fact forcing a policy shift within the Nazi government, yet allow the mass deportations and killings of fellow German Jews.  Prior to 1941, the majority of Nazi Holocaust victims were T-4 patients, Poles and Soviet prisoners of war.  Only after 1941 and the invasion of the Soviet Union did the full furry of the Nazi genocide result in the mass slaughter of European Jewry.  With the invasion of the Soviet Union on 21 June 1941, the Nazis unleashed the Einsatzgruppen (mobile killing squads) on Russia’s 4.8 million Jews.  After 1941 mass killing would take on a new and more horrible meaning. 
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